Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Martinez Devesa P, Waddell A, Perera R, Theodoulou M



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2007, Issue 1

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	2
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	4
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	4
SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	5
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	5
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	6
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	6
RESULTS	7
DISCUSSION	8
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	8
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	8
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	8
REFERENCES	9
TABLES	13
Characteristics of included studies	13
Characteristics of excluded studies	17
Characteristics of ongoing studies	18
ADDITIONAL TABLES	18
Table 01. SEARCH STRATEGIES	18
ANALYSES	19
Comparison 01. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Subjective loudness score.	19
Comparison 02. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Depression score.	19
Comparison 03. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Quality of life score.	19
Comparison 04. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Subjective loudness score.	20
Comparison 05. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Depression score.	20
Comparison 06. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Quality of life score.	20
COVER SHEET	20
GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES	21
Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Subjective loudness score.,	21
Outcome 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.	
Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Depression score., Outcome	22
02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.	
Analysis 03.03. Comparison 03 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Quality of life score.,	22
Outcome 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.	
Analysis 04.01. Comparison 04 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Subjective loudness	23
score., Outcome 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.	
Analysis 05.02. Comparison 05 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Depression score.,	23
Outcome 02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.	
Analysis 06.03. Comparison 06 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Quality of life score.,	24
Outcome 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.	

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Martinez Devesa P, Waddell A, Perera R, Theodoulou M

Status: New

This record should be cited as:

Martinez Devesa P, Waddell A, Perera R, Theodoulou M. Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2007, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD005233. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005233.pub2.

This version first published online: 24 January 2007 in Issue 1, 2007. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 14 November 2006

ABSTRACT

Background

Tinnitus is an auditory perception that can be described as the experience of sound, in the ear or in the head, in the absence of external acoustic stimulation (not usually audible to anyone else). At present no specific therapy for tinnitus is acknowledged to be satisfactory in all patients.

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) uses relaxation, cognitive restructuring of the thoughts and exposure to exacerbating situations in order to promote habituation and may benefit tinnitus patients, as may the treatment of associated psychological conditions.

Objectives

To assess whether cognitive behavioural therapy is effective in the management of patients suffering from tinnitus.

Search strategy

Our search included the Cochrane ENT Group Trials Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* Issue 2, 2006), MEDLINE and EMBASE. The last search date was June 2006.

Selection criteria

Randomised controlled trials in which patients with unilateral or bilateral tinnitus as main symptom received cognitive behavioural treatment.

Data collection and analysis

One review author (PMD) assessed every report identified by the search strategy. The four review authors assessed the methodological quality, applied inclusion/exclusion criteria and extracted data.

Main results

Six trials comprising 285 participants were included.

1. Primary outcome: subjective tinnitus loudness

CBT compared to a waiting list control group: we found no significant difference (Standardised Mean Difference (SMD) 0.06 (95% CI -0.25 to 0.37)).

CBT compared to another intervention (Yoga, Education, Minimal Contact - Education and Education): we found no significant difference (SMD 0.1 (95% CI -0.22 to 0.42)).

2. Secondary outcomes

a) Depression

CBT compared to a waiting list control group: we found no significant difference in either group (SMD 0.29 (95%CI -0.04 to 0.63)).

CBT compared to another intervention (Yoga, Education and Minimal Contact - Education): we found no significant difference (SMD 0.01 (95% CI -0.43 to 0.45)).

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

b) Quality of life

CBT compared to a waiting list control group: we found a significant difference in favour of CBT versus the waiting list group (SMD 0.7 (95% CI 0.33 to 1.08)).

CBT compared to another intervention (Education, Minimal Contact - Education and Education): we also found a significant difference between CBT and the other intervention control group (SMD 0.64 (95% CI 0.29 to 1.00)).

There were no adverse/side effects reported in any trial.

Authors' conclusions

We did not find a significant difference in the subjective loudness of tinnitus, or in the associated depression. However we found a significant improvement in the quality of life (decrease of global tinnitus severity) of the participants, thus suggesting that cognitive behavioural therapy has an effect on the qualitative aspects of tinnitus and contributes positively to the management of tinnitus.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Tinnitus can be described as the experience of sound, in the ear or in the head. Subjective tinnitus is not heard by anyone else. At present no particular treatment for tinnitus has been found effective in all patients.

Cognitive behavioural therapy was originally developed as a treatment for depression and then also used for anxiety, insomnia and chronic pain. It is a form of psychological treatment that consists of the use of relaxation, remodelling thoughts and use challenging situations to improve the patient's attitude towards tinnitus.

The objective of this review was to assess whether cognitive behavioural therapy is effective in the management of patients suffering from tinnitus.

Six trials (285 participants) are included in this review. Data analysis did not demonstrate any significant effect in the subjective loudness of tinnitus, or in the depression associated with tinnitus. We found, however a significant improvement in the quality of life (decrease of global tinnitus severity) suggesting that cognitive behavioural therapy has a positive effect on the way in which people cope with tinnitus.

Further research should use a limited number of validated questionnaires in a more consistent way and with a longer follow up to assess the long-term effect of cognitive behavioural therapy (or other intervention trials) on tinnitus.

BACKGROUND

Tinnitus is an auditory perception that can be described as the experience of sound, in the ear or in the head, in the absence of external acoustic stimulation (not heard by anyone else). The term tinnitus is derived from the Latin word 'tinnire', which means to ring or tinkle. Up to 18% of the population in industrialised countries are affected by tinnitus (Coles 1984; Coles 1995), the majority mildly. Tinnitus can be unilateral or bilateral, continuous or intermittent, low or high pitch. The types of sounds perceived vary greatly. Between 0.5% and 3% of the adult population may suffer from severe chronic tinnitus which can seriously affect their normal lives by producing mood disorders, anxiety, depression or altered sleep patterns (Andersson 2004; Coles 1984; Coles 1995; Luxon 1993).

Tinnitus is usually a subjective experience, but 'objective tinnitus' (that is, perceivable by both patient and observer) can be secondary to conditions such as temporomandibular joint dysfunction (conditions affecting the jaw joint), vascular tumours and malformations (blood vessel enlargement) and contractions of the palatal muscles (muscles of the soft palate).

Prevalence

Epidemiological data reports are few. The data described by the Institute of Hearing Research (UK) in 1981 refers to a prevalence of tinnitus in 15.5% to 18.6% of 6804 participants who completed a questionnaire in four cities (MRC 1981). This is consistent with the data collected by the American Tinnitus Association (ATA) that points to a prevalence of tinnitus in 50 million Americans or about 19% (ATA 2001). Data exist for Japan, Europe and Australia and estimates suggest that tinnitus affects a similar percentage of those populations. One to two per cent of the population experiences debilitating tinnitus, severely limiting the quality of life of affected individuals (Seidman 1998). In a survey in Germany 1.5 million adults experience tinnitus as being 'considerably annoying' (Pilgramm 1999).

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc c}$ 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Aetiology

Tinnitus can occur as an isolated symptom without a recognisable cause or in association with a middle or inner ear disorder, such as sensorineural hearing loss (Vesterager 1997), otosclerosis (Shea 1981), intoxication with certain drugs (Brummett 1980), sudden deafness and Ménière's disease (Spoendlin 1987).

Many environmental factors can also cause tinnitus. The most relevant and frequently reported are:

- Acute acoustic trauma (AAT) (for example, explosions or gunfire) (Christiansson 1993; Chung 1980; Melinek 1976; Mrena 2002; Temmel 1999);
- Airbag inflation (Saunders 1998); toy-pistols (Fleischer 1999);
- Exposure to occupational noise; 'urban noise pollution' (Alberti 1987; Axelsson 1985; Chouard 2001; Daniell 1998; Griest 1998; Kowalska 2001; McShane 1988; Neuberger 1992; Phoon 1993);
- Exposure to recreational and amplified music (Becher 1996; Chouard 2001; Lee 1999; Metternich 1999).

The consequences of such exposure can be modified in individuals (Bauer 1991; Rosenhall 1991).

Iatrogenic (treatment induced) factors causing tinnitus include drug-induced ototoxicity caused by, for example, the use of some antimicrobial and chemotherapeutic agents, quinine, aspirin overdose and platinum cytotoxics (Begg 2001; Cunha 2001; Palomar 2001; Sullivan 1988). Tinnitus is also associated with depression, although it is unclear whether tinnitus is a manifestation of depression or a factor contributing to it (Sullivan 1989).

Pathophysiology

There are several theories of the pathophysiology of tinnitus:

One theory suggests that tinnitus is caused by excessive or abnormal spontaneous activity in the auditory system and in related cerebral areas (Jastreboff 1994; Kaltenbach 2000; Lockwood 1999; Moller 1997). Lockwood proposed that the perception of tinnitus arises not in the ears but in the brain (Lockwood 1999). Experimentally delivered audiometric pure tones presented to subjects with tinnitus activate changes in cerebral blood flow in more portions of the brains of tinnitus patients than in controls when assessed with Positron Emission Tomography (PET). This suggests that 'abnormal connections' in the central auditory system may play a role in tinnitus perception.

A separate, but not incompatible, hypothesis suggests a genetic origin for tinnitus (Gingrass 1993; Laubert 1986; Snow 1993). The genetic causes of hearing loss have been reviewed by Willems (Willems 2000).

In the 'neurophysiological model for tinnitus' (Jastreboff 1990) it is proposed that tinnitus results from the abnormal processing of a signal generated in the auditory system. This abnormal processing occurs before the signal is perceived centrally. This may result in 'feedback', whereby the annoyance created by the tinnitus causes the individual to focus increasingly on the noise, which in turn exacerbates the annoyance and so a 'vicious cycle' develops. In this model tinnitus could therefore result from continuous firing of cochlear fibres to the brain, from hyperactivity of cochlear hair cells or from permanent damage to these cells being translated neuronally into a 'phantom' sound-like signal that the brain 'believes' it is hearing. For this reason tinnitus may be compared to chronic pain of central origin - a sort of 'auditory pain' (Briner 1995; Sullivan 1994).

In all these models of tinnitus generation and perception, the relationship between the symptom of tinnitus and the activity of the prefrontal cortex and limbic system has been emphasised. The limbic system mediates emotions. It can be of great importance in understanding why the sensation of tinnitus is in many cases so distressing for the patient. It also suggests why, when symptoms are severe, tinnitus can be associated with major depression, anxiety and other psychosomatic and/or psychological disturbances, leading to a progressive deterioration of quality of life (Lockwood 1999; Sullivan 1989; Sullivan 1992; Sullivan 1993).

Diagnosis

Initially, a patient complaining of tinnitus may simply undergo a basic clinical assessment. This will include the relevant otological, general and family history, and an examination focusing on the ears, teeth and neck and scalp muscles. Referral to a specialist may involve a variety of other investigations including audiological tests and radiology. Persistent, unilateral tinnitus may be due to a specific disorder of the auditory pathway and imaging of the cerebellopontine angle (brainstem) is important to exclude for example, a vestibular schwannoma (acoustic neuroma) - a benign tumour of the cerebellopontine angle, with an incidence of 1.4 per 100,000 of the population (Anderson 2000; Dawes 2000). Other lesions, such as glomus tumours, meningiomas, adenomas, vascular lesions or neuro-vascular conflicts may also be detected by imaging (Marx 1999; Weissman 2000).

Treatment

At present no specific therapy for tinnitus is acknowledged to be satisfactory in all patients.

Many patients who complain of tinnitus and who also have a significant hearing impairment will benefit from a hearing aid. Not only will this help their hearing disability, but also the severity of their tinnitus may be reduced.

A recent review (Waddell 2003) showed that the use of tricyclic antidepressants improved tinnitus related disability in people with or without depression and chronic tinnitus (Bayar 2001; Dobie 1993). Other pharmacological agents used in the treatment of tinnitus with less beneficial results include: antiepileptics (Simpson 1999), baclofen (skeletal muscle relaxant and central nervous

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

system depressant) (Westerberg 1996), benzodiazepines (sedative) (Johnson 1993), cinnarizine (a cerebral vasodilator and vestibular sedative) (Podoshin 1991), nicotinamide (vitamin B group) (Hulshof 1987) and zinc (Paaske 1991).

Ginkgo biloba for tinnitus has been the subject of a number of studies (Drew 2001; Ernst 1999; Holger 1994; Rejali 2004) and a recent Cochrane review (Hilton 2004). Lidocaine and tocainide (local anaesthetics and antiarrhythmics that act by stabilising hair cell membrane and cochlear nerve fibres) (Hulshof 1985; Lenarz 1986) have also been used in the treatment of tinnitus with no significant benefit but with reported adverse reactions (gastrointestinal upset, dizziness, mouth dryness, rash and tremor).

Other interventions include acupuncture (Park 2000), electromagnetic stimulation (Dobie 1986; Fiedler 1998; Roland 1993), hypnosis (Attias 1993; Mason 1996), low power laser (Mirz 1999), psychotherapy (Andersson 1999), tinnitus masking devices ('white noise generators') and biofeedback.

In recent years increasing attention has been given to the method known as Tinnitus Retraining Therapy (TRT). This is a therapeutic process that uses a combination of low level, broad-band noise and counselling to achieve 'habituation'. The aim of the treatment is to redirect the brain's 'attentional focus' away from the tinnitus signal.

Cognitive behavioural therapy

Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) is a structured, time-limited psychological therapy. It is usually offered on an outpatient basis with between eight and 24 weekly sessions. It involves the patient using behavioural and cognitive tasks to modify their response to thoughts and situations.

Cognitive behavioural therapy is based on the principle that core beliefs, usually developed in childhood and often arising from a specific incident, provide a pattern of assumptions. Specific mood states or events similar to the original or critical incident can set up thought patterns which reinforce the core beliefs. These patterns influence behavioural and emotional responses giving rise to symptoms, which may be cognitive, behavioural or somatic.

Tinnitus may be conceived as a failure to adapt to a stimulus (Hallam 1984) and in that sense may be considered to be analogous to anxiety states.

Cognitive behavioural therapy involves collaborative empiricism (Beck 1979) in which patient and therapist view the patient's fearful thoughts as hypotheses to be critically examined and tested. This is achieved by (a) generating an understanding of the link between thoughts and feelings arising from an event and using this information to understand the core beliefs and (b) modifying these cognitions and the behavioural and cognitive responses by which they are normally maintained. Education, discussion of evidence for and against the beliefs, imagery modification, attentional manipulations, exposure to feared stimuli and relaxation techniques are used in the therapy. Behavioural and cognitive assignments which test beliefs are used. The potential pitfalls and obstacles are identified and achievable goals are set so that a successful and therefore therapeutic outcome is experienced.

Originally developed as a treatment for depression, there are now a wide range of psychological conditions for which cognitive behavioural therapy has an evidence based rationale including anxiety, insomnia and chronic pain (Hawton 1989). The use of relaxation, cognitive restructuring of the thoughts and exposure to exacerbating situations in order to promote habituation may benefit tinnitus patients, as may the treatment of associated psychological conditions.

OBJECTIVES

To assess whether cognitive behaviour therapy is effective in the management of patients suffering from tinnitus. As the symptoms of tinnitus are very subjective for the great majority of patients, we aim to evaluate subjective improvement in the perception of this symptom.

CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

Types of studies

Randomised controlled trials.

Types of participants

Patients with unilateral or bilateral tinnitus as main symptom, not necessarily associated with hearing loss. We will exclude patients with pulsatile tinnitus and other somatic sounds, delusional auditory hallucinations and patients undergoing concurrent psychotherapeutic interventions.

Types of intervention

Cognitive behavioural therapy (of variable intensity and duration, within a group or individually, by a qualified practitioner) versus no treatment or other treatments.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcome measure

Subjective tinnitus loudness (measured on a numeric scale).

Secondary outcome measures

Subjective and objective improvement of the symptoms of depression and mood disturbances associated with tinnitus.

Evaluation of quality of life for patients (Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire or other validated assessment method).

Adverse effects (i.e. worsening of symptoms, suicidal tendencies, negative thoughts)

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

SEARCH METHODS FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Cochrane Ear, Nose and Throat Disorders Group methods used in reviews.

We searched the Cochrane Ear, Nose and Throat Disorders Group Trials Register, the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (*The Cochrane Library* Issue 2, 2006), MEDLINE (1950 to June 2006) and EMBASE (1974 to June 2006). The date of the last search was June 2006.

The following databases were also searched: CINAHL (1982 to June 2006), AMED (1985 to June 2006), LILACS, KOREAMED, INDMED, SIGLE, Cambridge Scientific Abstracts, mRCT (*meta*database of controlled trials), the National Research Register and ISI Web of Science.

CENTRAL was searched using the following terms:

#1 TINNITUS single term (MeSH) #2 TINNIT* #3 EAR* NEAR BUZZ* OR EAR* NEAR RING* OR EAR* NEAR ROAR* OR EAR* NEAR CLICK* OR EAR* NEAR PULS* #4 #1 OR #2 OR #3 #5 BEHAVIOR THERAPY explode all trees (MeSH) #6 COGNIT* AND BEHAV* #7 (COGNIT* OR BEHAV* OR CONDITIONING OR RELAXATION OR DESENSITI*) AND (THERAP* OR PSYCHOTHERAP* OR TRAIN* OR RETRAIN* OR TREATMENT* OR MODIFICATION*) #8 DESENSITI* NEAR PSYCHOLOG* **#9 IMPLOSIVE NEAR THERAP*** #10 #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 #11 #4 AND #10

Search strategies for MEDLINE + CINAHL, EMBASE and PsycINFO, based on the above strategy, are presented in Table 01. These strategies were combined with the first two sections of the highly sensitive search strategy designed by The Cochrane Collaboration for identifying randomised controlled trials and controlled clinical trials in MEDLINE and EMBASE.

References of retrieved articles from electronic searches were searched. A search for existing meta-analyses and non-Cochrane systematic reviews was performed and their reference lists scanned for additional trials. Authors of published trials and other experts in the field were contacted. There were no language, publication year or publication status restrictions on searching.

METHODS OF THE REVIEW

One review author (PMD) assessed every report identified by the search strategy described above for relevance to this review. The criteria for selection at this stage were simple and broad, so as not to miss any relevant study, and were:

1) randomisation;

2) diagnosis of tinnitus;

3) comparison between cognitive behavioural therapy and other treatment or no treatment.

Four review authors, blinded to decisions made each other, decided which trials fit the inclusion criteria and graded their methodological quality. Any disagreement was resolved by discussion between the review authors. Authors were contacted if necessary for clarification.

Quality assessment

The criteria for quality assessment were based on the recommendations of the Cochrane Reviewers' Handbook, version 4.2.1, Section 6 (updated Dec. 2003). The quality of selected studies was assessed for the following characteristics:

Adequacy of the randomisation process and of allocation concealment:

A - Adequate (e.g. centralised randomisation by a central office)

B - Unclear (e.g. apparently adequate concealment but without other information in trial)

C - Inadequate (e.g. alterations in method or any allocation that could be potentially transparent)

Attrition bias:

A - Adequate (trials where an intention-to-treat analysis is possible and drop out rate was less than 20% in all groups)

B - Unclear (trials where drop out rate was more than 20% or great heterogeneity in drop out rate between groups was observed)

C - Inadequate (lack of reporting on drop out rate and intentionto-treat analysis is not possible)

Detection bias:

Blinding of investigators who assessed the outcomes of interventions is relevant to this research, in that the outcome measures have great subjective components (severity of tinnitus and/or associated depression). For the purpose of this review, it will also be important to evaluate the adequacy, the development and the standardisation of the questionnaires used in the trials. For this reason adequacy of studies will be classified as:

A - Adequate (trials in which blinding of investigators assessing outcomes was adequate; the utilisation of questionnaires was clearly shown; the questionnaires used were well known and/or standardised)

B - Unclear (trials in which blinding of investigators is not adequately described and/or the utilisation of questionnaires was not clearly shown; the questionnaires used were not well known and/or not standardised)

C - Inadequate (trials in which blinding of investigators was clearly not performed)

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Studies were graded A, B or C for their overall methodological quality. Study quality was used in a sensitivity analysis.

Data extraction

The authors extracted data independently on to standardised data forms. Studies that have incomplete or ambiguous reporting of data were clarified by discussion between the authors.

Data analysis

Data analysis was intention-to-treat. For dichotomous data we would calculate the odds ratio (OR) and number needed to treat (NNT). For continuous data, the standardised mean difference (SMD) was calculated.

A pooled statistical analysis of treatment effects proceeded only in the absence of significant clinical or statistical heterogeneity. When obtaining the outcome of change we used the correlation obtained from Zachriat 2004 (complete data set, correlation = 0.69) to model the outcomes for those studies that reported measures at baseline and endpoint only.

The main analysis was an examination of severity (subjective loudness) of tinnitus and its effect on depression and quality of life, during and after the period of treatment.

We also planned to collect and analyse data on any adverse reactions due to treatment.

DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES

See tables of 'Characteristics of included studies' and 'Characteristics of excluded studies'.

Twenty-one studies were identified following our search, from which six studies (comprising 285 participants) met our inclusion criteria. Most of the studies compared cognitive behavioural therapy to a waiting list control and/or other intervention/s, namely educational, yoga or other psychotherapeutic treatment, in two to four study arms. The assessment tools used in these five studies varied greatly, but could be divided in three main groups: (1) audiological, (2) psychometric questionnaires and well-being scales (such as Tinnitus Questionnaire and Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire) and (3) subjective score in a tinnitus diary (loudness, tinnitus awareness and tinnitus control etc.). Cognitive behavioural therapy treatment consisted of six to 11 group sessions (six to eight individuals) of 60 to 120 minutes duration, with a qualified psychologist or student psychologists under supervision (Rief 2005). Self-report questionnaires and diaries (between eight and 12) were used to measure outcomes at pre-, post-treatment and follow-up periods (i.e. 3, 6, 12 and 18/21 months). Report of patients lost during treatment and follow up was good with total drop out varying from 4.65% to 21.66%, which would be more than adequate for these types of trials.

All studies aimed to report results at baseline (pre-treatment), posttreatment and at follow-up periods that varied from three to 18 months, however after the initial treatment, the waiting list groups also received CBT thus invalidating the follow-up comparisons for the purpose of this review. One study (Kröner-Herwig 2003) collected follow-up data on the treatment group only (CBT) as their hypothesis was that the treatment effect would be maintained. In this trial, the Tinnitus Questionnaire score (quality of life) was maintained at six months and deteriorated slightly but not significantly at 12 months follow up.

METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

Allocation bias

Six studies (comprising 285 participants) met our inclusion criteria. Of these, two (Kröner-Herwig 1995; Henry 1996) did not explain the method of randomisation. Allocation concealment was adequate in most studies, only one study (Kröner-Herwig 1995) divided the treatment group into two arms to have a more balanced four arm study (comparing them to yoga and waiting list control), however this was taken into account when extracting data from this study, using a combined mean and standard deviations.

The inclusion/exclusion criteria were clearly defined in all studies. The participants' demographics were comparable throughout all the studies with the exception of a male preponderance (86%) in one study (Henry 1996).

Attrition bias

An acceptable drop out rate was considered in this review to be no more than 20%. Two studies (Kröner-Herwig 1995; Henry 1996) had a drop out just above this limit at 21.66% and 20.93%, however this was well accounted for in these trials and affected also other trial arms which were not involved in our data extraction and calculations.

Detection bias

A large number of self-reported questionnaires and diaries (eight to 12) were used as main assessment outcomes of the treatments imparted in these trials. The adequacy and validation of these questionnaires was generally poor. We used the Tinnitus Questionnaire (Hallam 1988; used in Kröner-Herwig 2003 and Zachriat 2004), the Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire (Kuk 1990; used in Henry 1996) and the Tinnitus Reaction Questionnaire (Wilson 1991; used in Andersson 2005) as standardised and validated instruments to measure global tinnitus severity and its effect on quality of life, and the also validated Beck Depression Inventory (Beck 1961; Beck 1988 and used in Henry 1996) and when not available a modified Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D, German translation ADS; Radloff 1977; used in Kröner-Herwig 2003), the Deppression scale ("Depressivitäts Skala"; Zerssen 1975; used in Kröner-Herwig 1995) and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-depression subscale (Zigmond 1983; used in Andersson 2005) to provide a measure of depression of the participants before and after their intervention.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

With regards to the assessment of subjective loudness experienced by the participants this was our only primary outcome and it was reported in five of the six studies using numeric visual analogue scales.

Overall quality of the studies was generally good (see 'Characteristics of included studies' table). One study (Rief 2005) was of higher quality than the rest with regards to allocation concealment. All studies had adequate randomisation and ascertainment. All outcomes reported by the studies were subjective as there was no blinding to intervention, so the possibility of bias is present. However this is typical in trials with this type of intervention (CBT).

RESULTS

Six trials comprising 285 participants were included in this review.

We established in our protocol that there would be a primary outcome measure: (1) subjective tinnitus loudness, and two secondary outcome measures: (2) subjective and objective improvement of the symptoms of depression and mood disturbances associated with tinnitus, and (3) evaluation of quality of life for patients (Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire or other validated assessment method).

The selected control groups for comparison were first a waiting list group (participants did not received any intervention) and then another intervention (when available) carried out in another arm of the trial (i.e. Yoga in Kröner-Herwig 1995, Education in Henry 1996, Minimal Contact - Education in Kröner-Herwig 2003, Education in Zachriat 2004).

All the data extracted were continuous and were therefore analysed using Standardised Mean Difference (SMD), a 95% Confidence Interval (CI) and visually represented in a forest plot.

The Kröner-Herwig 1995 trial reported two CBT arms separately. We pooled the results (Means and SD) for these two to obtain a single measure to use in our comparisons.

1. Primary outcome: subjective tinnitus loudness

Five trials (262 participants) reported subjective loudness pre- and post-treatment on numeric visual analogue scales (VAS), the scores ranging from 0 to 10 points (Kröner-Herwig 1995), 0 to 4 points (Henry 1996), 1 to 7 points (Kröner-Herwig 2003; Zachriat 2004) or 0 to 10 points (Rief 2005).

Four studies (171 participants) compared CBT to a waiting list control group.

After pooling these studies we found no significant difference between treatment (cognitive behavioural therapy) and a waiting list control group: SMD 0.06 (95% CI -0.25 to 0.37).

Four studies (164 participants) compared CBT to another intervention (Yoga in Kröner-Herwig 1995, Education in Henry 1996, Minimal Contact - Education in Kröner-Herwig 2003 and Education in Zachriat 2004). After pooling these studies we found no significant difference between treatment (cognitive behavioural therapy) and other intervention control group: SMD 0.1 (95% CI -0.22 to 0.42).

Secondary outcomes

2. Depression

Four trials (196 participants) assessed changes in depression scores pre- and post-treatment on itemised scales ranging from 0 to 100 points ("Depressivitäts Skala"; Kröner-Herwig 1995), 0 to 63 points (Beck Depression Inventory; Henry 1996), 0 to 60 points (ADS-German version of the CES-D; Kröner-Herwig 2003) and 0 to 21 points (Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale-depression; Andersson 2005).

Four studies (152 participants) compared CBT to a waiting list control group, using a Depression scale ("Depressivitäts Skala", Kröner-Herwig 1995), the Beck Depression Inventory (Henry 1996), the ADS (German version of the CES-D, Kröner-Herwig 2003) and the HADS-depression scale (Andersson 2005). After analysing these studies together, there was no significant difference in either group: SMD 0.29 (95% CI -0.04 to 0.63).

Three studies (117 participants), compared CBT to another intervention (Yoga in Kröner-Herwig 1995, Education in Henry 1996, and Minimal Contact - Education in Kröner-Herwig 2003). We found no significant difference between treatment (cognitive behavioural therapy) and the other intervention control group: SMD 0.01 (95% CI -0.43 to 0.45).

3. Quality of life

This was assessed in four trials (219 participants) using the Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire (THQ) in one of them (Henry 1996), the Tinnitus Questionnaire (TQ) in two (Kröner-Herwig 2003; Zachriat 2004), and the Tinnitus Reaction Questionnaire in the final one (Andersson 2005).

Three studies (126 participants) compared CBT to a waiting list control group.

After pooling these studies, data analysis supports a significant different in favour of the treatment group (CBT) versus the waiting list group: SMD 0.70 (95% CI 0.33 to 1.08). This was also highlighted in the individual trials results.

Three studies (146 participants) compared CBT to another intervention (Education in Henry 1996, Minimal Contact - Education in Kröner-Herwig 2003 and Education in Zachriat 2004). After pooling these studies we also found a significant difference between treatment (cognitive behavioural therapy) versus other intervention control group: SMD 0.64 (95% CI 0.29 to 1.00).

Adverse effects

There were no adverse/side effects reported in any trial.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

DISCUSSION

The objective of this review was to assess whether cognitive behavioural therapy was effective in the management of patients suffering from tinnitus. As tinnitus itself is usually a subjective experience, our aim throughout the review was to look at subjective improvement in tinnitus and its effect on mood (depression) and overall quality of life.

Six of twenty-one identified trials provided us with enough information to fulfil our objective. One trial was excluded as the number of participants in each group was not available and further attempts to obtain extra information were unsuccessful (Henry 1998).

A large number of assessment tools (eight to 12) were used in each individual trial, so they generated an even larger list of outcome variables when some subsections of questionnaires or diaries were analysed independently.

The adequacy and validation of the questionnaires used was generally poor. We used the Tinnitus Questionnaire (Hallam 1988) and the Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire (Kuk 1990) as standardised and validated instruments to measure global tinnitus severity and its effect on quality of life, and the also validated Beck Depression Inventory (Beck 1961; Beck 1988) and when not available, the validated Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D, German translation ADS, Radloff 1977) and the Depression scale ("Depressivitäts Skala", Zerssen 1975), to provide a measure of depression of the participants before and after their intervention.

In the data analysis we found no significant change in subjective loudness of tinnitus, however we found a significant improvement in the quality of life (decrease of global tinnitus severity) of the participants, thus suggesting that cognitive behavioural therapy has an effect on the qualitative aspects of tinnitus and contributes positively to the management of tinnitus. This effect was observed for both comparisons of CBT versus waiting list and versus other interventions.

Regarding depression we found no significant effect of CBT in the trials that used depression as study tools. In one of these trials, there were no significant intra- and inter-group changes found, with low baseline scores in the depression scale (Kröner-Herwig 2003); the authors of this trial believe this left little room for improvement and subsequently had little overall effect.

Cognitive behavioural therapy was developed as a treatment for depression and has been consistently effective with this population (Gelder 2000). Perhaps depression is only a significant comorbidity of the 'severe' tinnitus sufferers, and as a small group in general, the inclusion of these 'severe' tinnitus sufferers with other not so severe in a trial, fails to show any overall significant effect.

Finally the lack of follow up found in the trials prevents us from drawing any conclusions about the long-term effect of this intervention for tinnitus, especially on quality of life where there was an initial significant effect and it would be interesting to see if this effect was maintained.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

1. Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus is effective for improving the quality of life (or reducing the global severity of tinnitus).

2. There is a lack of available evidence of the effect of this intervention on subjective loudness of tinnitus or on the depression associated with it.

Implications for research

1. A consensus should be reached to use a limited number of validated questionnaires, in a more consistent way, for future research in this area.

2. Longer follow up is necessary to assess the long-term effect of cognitive behavioural therapy, or other intervention trials, on tinnitus.

POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Paolo Baldo is acknowledged for drafting the original text on which the Background of this protocol is based.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

External sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

Internal sources of support

• No sources of support supplied

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Andersson 2005 {published data only}

* Andersson G, Porsaeus D, Wiklund M, Kaldo V, Larsen HC. Treatment of tinnitus in the elderly: a controlled trial of cognitive behavior therapy. *International Journal of Audiology* 2005;**44(11)**:671–5.

Henry 1996 {published data only}

Henry JL, Wilson PH. The psychological management of tinnitus: comparison of a combined cognitive educational program, education alone and a waiting-list control. *International Tinnitus Journal* 1996; **2**:9–20.

Kröner-Herwig 1995 {published data only}

Kröner-Herwig B, Hebing G, Van Rijn-Kalkman U, Frenzel A, Schilkowsky G, Esser G. The management of chronic tinnitus - comparison of a cognitive-behavioural group training with yoga. *Journal* of *Psychosomatic Research* 1995;**39(2)**:153–65.

Kröner-Herwig 2003 {published data only}

Kröner-Herwig B, Frenzel A, Fritsche G, Schilkowsky G, Esser G. The management of chronic tinnitus: comparison of an outpatient cognitive-behavioral group training to minimal-contact interventions. *Journal of Pyschosomatic Research* 2003;**54**(**4**):381–9.

Rief 2005 {published data only}

Rief W, Weise C, Kley N, Martin A. Psychophysiologic, treatment of chronic tinnitus: a randomized clinical trial. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 2005;**67(5)**:833–8.

Zachriat 2004 {published and unpublished data}

Zachriat C, Kröner-Herwig B. Treating chronic tinnitus: comparison of cognitive-behavioural and habituation-based treatments. *Cognitive Behavioural Therapy* 2004;**33(4)**:187–98.

References to studies excluded from this review

Andersson 2002

Andersson G, Stromgren T, Strom L, Lyttkens L. Randomized controlled trial of internet-based cognitive behavior therapy for distress associated with tinnitus. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 2002;**64**:810–6.

Davies 1995

Davies S, McKenna L, Hallam RS. Relaxation and cognitive therapy: a controlled trial in chronic tinnitus. *Psychology and Health* 1995;**10**: 129–43.

Delb 2002

Delb W, D'Amelio R, Boisten CJM, Plinkert PK. Evaluation of the tinnitus retraining therapy as combined with a cognitive behavioural group therapy. *HNO* 2002;**50**(11):997–1004.

Goebel 2000

* Goebel G, Rubler D, Hiller W, Heuser J, Fitcher MM. Evaluation of tinnitus retraining therapy in comparison to cognitive therapy and broad-band noise generator therapy. *Laryngo-Rhino-Otologie* 2000; **79 (Suppl 1)**:S88.

Henry 1998

Henry JL, Wilson PH. An evaluation of two types of cognitive intervention in the management of chronic tinnitus. *Scandinavian Journal* of *Behaviour Therapy* 1998;**27(4)**:156–66.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Hiller 2004

* Hiller W, Haerkotter C. Does sound stimulation have additive effects on cognitive-behavioural treatment of chronic tinnitus?. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2005;**43** (5):595–612.

Jakes 1986

Jakes SC, Hallam RS, Rachman S, Hinchcliffe R. The effects of reassurance, relaxation training and distraction on chronic tinnitus sufferers. *Behavior Research and Therapy* 1986;**24(5)**:497–507.

Jakes 1992

Jakes SC, Hallam RS, McKenna L, Hinchcliffe R. Group cognitive therapy for medical patients: an application to tinnitus. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 1992;**16**(1):67–82.

Kröner-Herwig 1999

Kröner-Herwig B, Esser G, Frenzel A, Fritsche G, Schilkowsky G. Results of an outpatient cognitive-behavioral group treatment for chronic tinnitus. Sixth International Tinnitus Seminar. 1999:370–2.

Lindberg 1987

Lindberg P, Scott B, Melin L, Lyttkens L. Long-term effects of psychological treatment of tinnitus. *Scandinavian Audiology* 1987;**16**: 167–72.

Lindberg 1988

Lindberg P, Scott B, Melin L, Lyttkens L. Behavioural therapy in the clinical management of tinnitus. *British Journal of Audiology* 1988; **22**:265–72.

Lindberg 1989

Lindberg P, Scott B, Melin L, Lyttkens L. The psychological treatment of tinnitus: an experimental evaluation. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 1989;**27(6)**:593–603.

Scott 1985

Scott B, Lindberg P, Lyttkens L, Melin L. Psychological tratment of tinnitus. *Scandinavian Audiology* 1985;14:223–30.

Wise 1998

Wise K, Rief W, Goebel G. Meeting the expectations of chronic tinnitus patients: comparison of a structured group therapy program for tinnitus management with a problem-solving group. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1998;**44(6)**:681–5.

References to ongoing studies

Robinson 2001

Robinson SK, McQuaid JR, Goldin PR. Cognitive-behavior therapy for tinnitus. 154th Annual Meeting of the American Psychiatric Association, New Orleans, LA, USA, May 5-10 2001. 2001:Abstract No. NR127.

Additional references

Alberti 1987

Alberti PW. Tinnitus in occupational hearing loss: nosological aspects. *Journal of Otolaryngology* 1987;**16**(1):34–5.

Anderson 2000

Anderson TD, Loevner LA, Bigelow DC, Mirza N. Prevalence of unsuspected acoustic neuroma found by magnetic resonance imaging. *Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery* 2000;**122**(5):643–6.

Andersson 1999

Andersson G, Lytkens L. A meta-analytic review of psychological treatments for tinnitus. *British Journal of Audiology* 1999;**33**:201–10.

Andersson 2004

Andersson G, Kaldo V. Internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy for tinnitus. *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2004 Feb;**60**(2):171–8.

ATA 2001

ATA. Website of the American Tinnitus Association. http://www.ata. org (accessed 2001).

Attias 1993

Attias J, Shemesh Z, Sohmer H, Gold S, Shoham C, Faraggi D. Comparison between self-hypnosis, masking and attentiveness for alleviation of chronic tinnitus. *Audiology* 1993;**32**(3):205–12.

Axelsson 1985

Axelsson A, Sandh A. Tinnitus in noise-induced hearing loss. British Journal of Audiology 1985;19(4):271-6.

Bauer 1991

Bauer P, Korpert K, Neuberger M, Raber A, Schwetz F. Risk factors for hearing loss at different frequencies in a population of 47,388 noise-exposed workers. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 1991;**90**(6):3086–98.

Bayar 2001

Bayar N, Boke B, Turan E, Belgin E. Efficacy of amitriptyline in the treatment of subjective tinnitus. *Journal of Otolaryngology* 2001 Oct; **30**(5):300–3.

Becher 1996

Becher S, Struwe F, Schwenzer C, Weber K. Risk of hearing loss caused by high volume music - presenting an educational concept for preventing hearing loss in adolescents. *Gesundheitswesen* 1996; **58**(2):91–5.

Beck 1961

Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1961;**4**:561– 71.

Beck 1979

Beck AT, Rush AJ, Shaw BF, Emery G. *Cognitive therapy of depression*. New York: Guilford Press, 1979.

Beck 1988

Beck AT, Steer RA, Garbin MG. Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory: Twenty-five years of evaluation. *Clinical Psychology* 1988;**8**:77–100.

Begg 2001

Begg EJ, Barclay ML, Kirkpatrick CM. The therapeutic monitoring of antimicrobial agents. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 2001;**52**(Suppl 1):35S–43S.

Briner 1995

Briner W. A behavioral nosology for tinnitus. *Psychological Reports* 1995 Aug;77(1):27–34.

Brummett 1980

Brummett RE. Drug-induced ototoxicity. Drugs 1980;19(6):412-28.

Chouard 2001

Chouard CH. Urban noise pollution. Comptes rendus de l'Académie des sciences. *Série III, Sciences de la vie* 2001;**324**(7):657–61.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Christiansson 1993

Christiansson BA, Wintzell KA. An audiological survey of officers at an infantry regiment. *Scandinavian Audiology* 1993;**22**(3):147–52.

Chung 1980

Chung DY, Gannon RP. Hearing loss due to noise trauma. *Journal of Laryngology and Otology* 1980;9(4):419-23.

Coles 1984

Coles RR. Epidemiology of tinnitus (1). *Journal of Laryngology and Otology* 1984;9(suppl):7–15.

Coles 1995

Coles RR. Epidemiology, Aetiology and Classification. Proceedings of the Fifth International Tinnitus Seminar. Portland: American Tinnitus Association, 1995.

Cunha 2001

Cunha BA. Antibiotic side effects. *The Medical Clinics of North America* 2001;**85**(1):149–85.

Daniell 1998

Daniell WE, Fulton-Kehoe D, Smith-Weller T, Franklin GM. Occupational hearing loss in Washington state, 1984-1991: II. Morbidity and associated costs. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1998; **33**(6):529–36.

Dawes 2000

Dawes PJ, Metha D, Arullendran P. Screening for vestibular schwannoma: magnetic resonance imaging findings and management. *Journal of Laryngology and Otology* 2000;**114**(8):584–8.

Dobie 1986

Dobie RA, Hoberg KE, Rees TS. Electrical tinnitus suppression: a double-blind crossover study. *Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery* 1986;**95**:319–33.

Dobie 1993

Dobie RA, Sakai CS, Sullivan MD, Katon WJ, Russo J. Antidepressant treatment of tinnitus patients: report of a randomized clinical trial and clinical prediction of benefit. *American Journal of Otology* 1993 Jan;**14**(1):18–23.

Drew 2001

Drew S, Davies E. Effectiveness of ginkgo biloba in treating tinnitus: double-blind, placebo controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 2001; **322**:73–5.

Ernst 1999

Ernst E, Stevinson C. Ginkgo biloba for tinnitus: a review. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1999;**24**:164–7.

Fiedler 1998

Fiedler SC, Pilkington H, Willatt DJ. Electromagnetic stimulation as a treatment of tinnitus: a further study. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1998;**23**:270.

Fleischer 1999

Fleischer G, Hoffmann E, Lang R, Muller R. Documentation of the effects of child cap pistols. *HNO* 1999;47(6):535–40.

Gelder 2000

Gelder M, Lopez-Ibor JJ, Andreasen N. New Oxford Textbook of Psychiatry. Oxford University Press, 2000.

Gingrass 1993

Gingrass D. Temporomandibular joint degeneration in Alport's syndrome: review of literature and case report. *Journal of Orofacial Pain* 1993;7(3):307–10.

Griest 1998

Griest SE, Bishop PM. Tinnitus as an early indicator of permanent hearing loss. A 15 year longitudinal study of noise exposed workers. AAOHN Journal: Official Journal of the American Association of Occupational Health Nurses 1998;**46**(7):325–9.

Hallam 1984

Hallam RS, Rachman S, Hinchcliffe R. Psychological aspects of tinnitus. In: RachmanS editor(s). *Contributions to Medical Psychology*. Oxford: Pergamon, 1984:31–53.

Hallam 1988

Hallam RS, Jakes SC, Hinchcliffe R. Cognitive variables in tinnitus annoyance. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 1988;27:213–22.

Hawton 1989

Hawton K, Salkovskis PM, Kirk J, Clark DM. *Cognitive Behavioural Therapy For Psychiatric Problems. A Practical Guide*. Oxford Medical Publications, 1989.

Hilton 2004

Hilton M, Stuart E. Ginkgo biloba for tinnitus. In: *Cochrane Database* of *Systematic Reviews*, 2, 2004. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Holger 1994

Holger KM, Axelsson A, Pringle I. Ginkgo Biloba extract for the treatment of tinnitus. *Audiology* 1994;**33**:85–92.

Hulshof 1985

Hulshof JH, Vermeij P. The value of tocainide in the treatment of tinnitus. *Archives of Otolaryngology* 1985;**241**:279–83.

Hulshof 1987

Hulshof JH, Vermeij P. The effect of nicotinamide on tinnitus: a double-blind controlled study. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1987 Jun;**12** (3):211–4.

Jastreboff 1990

Jastreboff PJ. Phantom auditory perception (Tinnitus): mechanisms of generation and perception. *Neuroscience Research* 1990;**8**(4):221–54.

Jastreboff 1994

Jastreboff PJ, Hazell JW, Graham RL. Neurophysiological model of tinnitus: dependence of the minimal masking level on treatment outcome. *Hearing Research* 1994 Nov;**80**(2):216–32.

Johnson 1993

Johnson RM, Brummett R, Schleuning A. Use of alprazolam for relief of tinnitus. A double-blind study. *Archives of Otolaryngology -Head and Neck Surgery* 1993;119:842–5.

Kaltenbach 2000

Kaltenbach JA. Neurophysiologic mechanisms of tinnitus. *Journal of the American Academy of Audiology* 2000 Mar;**11**(3):125–37.

Kowalska 2001

Kowalska S, Sulkowski W. Tinnitus in noise-induced hearing impairment. *Medycyna Pracy* 2001;**52**(5):305–13.

Kuk 1990

Kuk K, Tyler RS, Russell D. The psychometric properties of a Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire. *Ear and Hearing* 1990;**11(6)**:434–42.

Laubert 1986

Laubert A. Deafness as a symptom of neural muscular atrophy (Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease). *HNO* 1986 Oct;**34**(10):434–7.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Lee 1999

Lee LT. A study of the noise hazard to employees in local discotheques. *Singapore Medical Journal* 1999;**40**(9):571–4.

Lenarz 1986

Lenarz T. Treatment of tinnitus with lidocaine and tocainide. *Scandinavian Audiology Supplementum* 1986;**26**:49–51.

Lockwood 1999

Lockwood AH, Salvi RJ, Burkard RF, Galantowicz PJ, Coad ML, Wack DS. Neuroanatomy of tinnitus. *Scandinavian Audiology* 1999; **51**(Supplementum):47–52.

Luxon 1993

Luxon LM. Tinnitus: its causes, diagnosis and treatment. *British Medical Journal* 1993;**306**:1490–1.

Marx 1999

Marx SV, Langman AW, Crane RC. Accuracy of fast spin echo magnetic resonance imaging in the diagnosis of vestibular schwannoma. *American Journal of Otolaryngology* 1999 Jul-Aug;**20**(4):211–6.

Mason 1996

Mason JD, Rogerson DR, Butler JD. Client centred hypnotherapy in the management of tinnitus - is it better than counselling?. *Journal* of Laryngology and Otology 1996;**110**:117–20.

McShane 1988

McShane DP, Hyde ML, Alberti PW. Tinnitus prevalence in industrial hearing loss compensation claimants. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1988;**13**(5):323–30.

Melinek 1976

Melinek M, Naggan L, Altman M. Acute acoustic trauma - a clinical investigation and prognosis in 433 symptomatic soldiers. *Israel Journal of Medical Sciences* 1976;**12**(6):590–9.

Metternich 1999

Metternich FU, Brusis T. Acute hearing loss and tinnitus caused by amplified recreational music. *Laryngorhinootologie* 1999;**78**(11): 614–9.

Mirz 1999

Mirz F, Zachariae R, Andersen SE, Nielsen AG, Johansen LV, Bjerring P, Pedersen CB. The low-power laser in the treatment of tinnitus. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1999 Aug;**24**(4):346–54.

Moller 1997

Moller AR. Similarities between chronic pain and tinnitus. *American Journal of Otology* 1997 Sep;**18**(5):577–85.

MRC 1981

Medical Research Council's Institute of Hearing Research. Epidemiology of tinnitus. Ciba Foundation Symposium 1981; Vol. 85:16–34

Mrena 2002

Mrena R, Savolainen S, Kuokkanen JT, Ylikoski J. Characteristics of tinnitus induced by acute acoustic trauma: a long-term follow-up. *Audiology and Neuro-otology* 2002;7(2):122–30.

Neuberger 1992

Neuberger M, Korpert K, Raber A, Schwetz F, Bauer P. Hearing loss from industrial noise, head injury and ear disease. A multivariate analysis on audiometric examinations of 110,647 workers. *Audiology* 1992;**31**(1):45–57.

Paaske 1991

Paaske PB, Pedersen CB, Kjems G, Sam IL. Zinc in the management of tinnitus. Placebo-controlled trial. *Annals of Otology, Rhinology and Laryngology* 1991 Aug;**100**(8):647–9.

Palomar 2001

Palomar Garcia V, Abdulghani Martinez F, Bodet Agusti E, Andreu Mencia L, Palomar Asenjo V. Drug-induced otoxicity: current status. *Acta Otolaryngologica* 2001;**121**(5):569–72.

Park 2000

Park J, White AR, Ernst E. Efficacy of acupuncture as a treatment for tinnitus: a systematic review. *Archives of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery* 2000 Apr;**126**(4):489–92.

Phoon 1993

Phoon WH, Lee HS, Chia SE. Tinnitus in noise-exposed workers. Occupational Medicine 1993;43(1):35–8.

Pilgramm 1999

Pilgramm M, Rychlik R, Lebisch H, Siedentop H, Goebel G, Kirchoff D. Tinnitus in the Federal Republic of Germany: a representative epidemiological study [Tinnitus in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland-eine repräsentative epidemiologische Studie]. *HNO* 1999;7: 261–5.

Podoshin 1991

Podoshin L, Ben-David Y, Fradis M, Gerstel R, Felner H. Idiopathic subjective tinnitus treated by biofeedback, acupuncture and drug therapy. *Ear, Nose, Throat Journal* 1991 May;**70**(5):284–9.

Radloff 1977

Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: A self-reported depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychology Meassurement* 1977;**1**:385–401.

Rejali 2004

Rejali D, Sivakumar A, Balaji N. Ginkgo biloba does not benefit patients with tinnitus: a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind trial and meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 2004;**29**(3):226–31.

Roland 1993

Roland NJ, Hughes JB, Daley MB, Cook JA, Jones AS, McCormick HS. Electromagnetic stimulation as a treatment of tinnitus: a pilot study. *Clinical Otolaryngology* 1993 Aug;**18**(4):278–81.

Rosenhall 1991

Rosenhall U, Karlsson AK. Tinnitus in old age. *Scandinavian Audiology* 1991;**20**(3):165–71.

Saunders 1998

Saunders JE, Slattery WH 3rd, Luxford WM. Automobile airbag impulse noise: otologic symptoms in six patients. *Otolaryngology -Head and Neck Surgery* 1998;**118**(2):228–34.

Seidman 1998

Seidman MD. Glutamate antagonists, steroids and antioxidants as therapeutic options for hearing loss and tinnitus and the use of an inner ear drug delivery system. *The International Tinnitus Journal* 1998; 4(2):148–54.

Shea 1981

Shea A. Otosclerosis and tinnitus. *Journal of Laryngology and Otology* (Supplement) 1981;4:149–50.

Simpson 1999

Simpson JJ, Gilbert AM, Weiner GM, Davies WE. The assessment of lamotrigine, an antiepileptic drug, in the treatment of tinnitus. *American Journal of Otology* 1999 Sep;**20**(5):627–31.

Snow 1993

Snow JB, Naunton RF. Research in the auditory and vestibular systems. The recommendations of the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders National Strategic Research Plan. *ORL Journal for Otorhinolaryngology and its Related Specialties* 1993 May-Jun;**55**(3):154–8.

Spoendlin 1987

Spoendlin H. Inner Ear Pathology and Tinnitus. Proceedings of the Third International Tinnitus Seminar. Munster: 1987; Vol. 42-51.

Sullivan 1988

Sullivan MD, Katon W, Dobie R, Sakai C, Russo J, Harrop-Griffiths J. Disabling tinnitus. Association with affective disorder. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 1988;**10**(4):285–91.

Sullivan 1989

Sullivan MD, Dobie RA, Sakai CS, Katon WJ. Treatment of depressed tinnitus patients with nortriptyline. *The Annals of Otology, Rhinology and Laryngology* 1989 Nov;**98**(11):867–72.

Sullivan 1992

Sullivan M, Katon WJ, Russo J, Dobie R, Sakai C. Somatization, comorbidity, and the quality of life: measuring the effect of depression upon chronic medical illness. *Psychiatric Medicine* 1992;**10**(3):61– 76.

Sullivan 1993

Sullivan M, Katon W, Russo J, Dobie R, Sakai C. A randomized trial of nortriptyline for severe chronic tinnitus. Effects on depression, disability, and tinnitus symptoms. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1993; **153**(19):2251–9.

Sullivan 1994

Sullivan M, Katon W, Russo J, Dobie R, Sakai C. Coping and marital support as correlates of tinnitus disability. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 1994 Jul;**16**(4):259–66.

Temmel 1999

Temmel AF, Kierner AC, Steurer M, Riedl S, Innitzer J. Hearing loss and tinnitus in acute acoustic trauma. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift* 1999;**111**(21):891–3.

Vesterager 1997

Vesterager V. Tinnitus - investigation and management. *British Medical Journal* 1997;**314**:728–31.

Waddell 2003

Waddell A, Canter R. Tinnitus. *Clinical Evidence* 2003 Jun;**9**:598–607.

Weissman 2000

Weissman JL, Hirsch BE. Imaging of tinnitus: a review. *Radiology* 2000 Aug;**216**(2):342–9.

Westerberg 1996

Westerberg BD, Robeson JB Jr, Stach BA. A double-blind placebocontrolled trial of baclofen in the treatment of tinnitus. *American Journal of Otology* 1996;**17**:896–903.

Willems 2000

Willems PJ. Genetic causes of hearing loss. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2000 Apr 13;**342**(15):1101–9.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Wilson 1991

Wilson PH, Henry J, Bowen M, Haralambous G. Tinnitus reaction questionnaire: Psychometric properties of a measure of distress with tinnitus. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Research* 1991;**34**:197–201.

Zerssen 1975

V Zerssen D. Die Depressivitäts Skala. Weinheim: Beltz, 1975.

Zigmond 1983

Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 1983;67:361–70.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

TABLES

Characteristics of included studies

Study	Andersson 2005
Methods	Randomised controlled trial.
Participants	23 (of 37 initially recruited) participants (12 male), mean age 70.1 years (range 65-79), allocated to two groups: CBT (12 patients) and waiting list control (11 patients).
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) patient should have problems with their tinnitus; (2) duration of tinnitus for at least 6 months; and (3) being able to attend the sessions, including walking up the stairs to attend the sessions.
	 Exclusion criteria were: (1) previous psychological treatment for tinnitus; (2) depression score above 22 on BDI; (3) a score above 2 on item 2 (hopelessness) and item 9 (suicidal ideation); or (4) had medical reasons for not taking part in the treatment.
Interventions	Two groups: (1) A treatment group of CBT (12 patients); and (2) a waiting list control group (11 patients).
Outcomes	 Four outcome measures: (1) The Tinnitus Reaction Questionnaire (TRQ); (2) the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS); (3) the Anxiety Severity Index (ASI); and (4) a Visual Analogue Scale for tinnitus annoyance, loudness and quality of sleep.
	Comparisons were made at pre- and post-treatment points. Also at 3 months follow up the outcomes were compared, but at this point the data were non-experimental, as the waiting list group had also received CBT after the post-treatment observations.
Notes	There were no drop-outs. Outcomes were measured pre- and post-treatment (6 weeks), then the waiting list group received the same treatment, so follow-up results at three months cannot be used.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Henry 1996

Methods	Randomised controlled trial.

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Characteristics of included studies (Continued)

Participants	60 (of 65 initially recruited) patients (52 male, mean age 64 years) allocated to three groups: 20 patients in each group.
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) chronic tinnitus of greater than six months duration; (2) tinnitus assessed by both otolaryngologist and audiologist; (3) traditional treatments not recommended or had failed; (4) no hearing aid, masker or medication for tinnitus in the previous six months; (5) at least 17 points on the TRQ; (6) English literacy; and (7) willingness to participate in a research program.
Interventions	 Three experimental conditions: (1) combined cognitive educational program; (2) education alone (both treatments involved a 90-minute session per week for six weeks, given by the same clinical psychologists, in groups of 5 to 7 subjects); and (3) a waiting-list control.
Outcomes	Self report questionnaires administered at pre-treatment, post-treatment and 12 months follow-up: TRQ, THQ, TEQ, TCQ, TCSQ, TKQ, BDI, LCB and a Self Monitoring of Tinnitus record, including: loudness, notice and bother by tinnitus.
Notes	The number of patients that were lost to the 12-month follow up was 13 (4 in the Cognitive Education, 3 in the Education alone and 6 in the waiting list group). Total drop-out at 12-month follow up = $13/60 = 21.66\%$. There were no adverse effects reported.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

Study	Kröner-Herwig 1995
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Randomisation by drawing code numbers from a basket with the total sample.
Participants	43 (of 52 initially recruited) patients (60.5% male, mean age 48 years) allocated to four groups.
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) duration of tinnitus greater than six months; (2) impairment due to tinnitus >4 on a 10-point rating scale; (3) hearing ability adequate for communication purposes; (4) no treatable organic or psychological pathology; (5) no current psychotherapy; (6) completed medical examination; and (7) willingness to participate in the assessment and at least 8 to 10 treatment sessions.
Interventions Outcomes	 Four experimental groups: (1) Tinnitus Coping Training 1(TCT1 = 7 patients); (2) Tinnitus Coping Training 2 (TCT2 = 8 patients); (3) Yoga Training (9 patients); and (4) a waiting list control (WLC = 19 patients).
	Each treatment group (TCT1, TCT2, yoga) consisted of ten 2-hourly sessions, each group was conducted by a different qualified professional.
	The outcome measures included: (1) Audiological: Tinnitus Sensation Level (TSL), Tinnitus Masking Level (TML); (2) Self-monitoring tinnitus diary: subjective loudness, tinnitus discomfort, sleep disturbance, interference with activity, control of tinnitus and hours per day of tinnitus ignored; and (3) Self report questionnaires: TQ, and well-being variables: depression, mood and symptoms.
	All assessments were completed at pre-treatment, post-treatment and 3 months follow up (the latter one except for audiological outcomes).

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Characteristics of included studies (Continued)

Notes

	drop-out = $9/43 = 20.93\%$. There were no adverse effects reported.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Sec. 1	
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Randomisation by drawing code numbers from the total sample and the se- quential assignment to the treatment conditions until a pre-set number of subjects was reached.
Participants	95 (of 116 initially recruited) patients (51.6% female, mean age 46.8 years) allocated to four groups.
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) age between 18 and 65 years; (2) duration of tinnitus greater than six months; (3) medical diagnosis of 'idiopathic' (unknown) tinnitus; (4) tinnitus being their main health problem, with subjective annoyance rating of >40 (out 100) on nine scales assessing disruptive effects of tinnitus.
	 Exclusion criteria were: (1) Ménière's disease; (2) hearing loss preventing from participating in communication within groups; and (3) current psychotherapeutic treatment.
Interventions	 Four experimental groups: (1) Tinnitus Coping Training (TCT = 43 patients); (2) Minimal Contact - Education (MC-E = 16 patients); (3) Minimal Contact - Relaxation (MC-R = 16 patients); and (4) a waiting list control (WLC = 20 patients).
	TCT comprised 11 sessions of 90 to 120 minutes duration, each group consisted of 6 to 8 patients and was conducted by two qualified psychologists. MC-E comprised of two group sessions (of education and self-help strategies for coping with tinnitus) 4 weeks apart while 'self-help exercises' were undertaken. MC-R consisted of an educational session in relaxation and distraction, followed by a second session were patients received audiocassettes with relaxing music and instructions, then a further 2 sessions to discuss progress. Patients in MC-E and MC-R were told they could join in TCT after post-treatment assessment.
	All assessments were completed at pre-treatment, post-treatment 6 and 12 months follow up.
Outcomes	The outcome measures included: (1) Self-monitoring tinnitus diary (during 2 weeks period at pre-, post-treatment and 6 months follow up): loudness, tinnitus awareness and subjective control of tinnitus; (2) Psychometric questionnaires: TQ (only instrument used at 12 month follow up), TDQ, a German coping inventory (COPE), SCL-90R and a German depression scale (ADS), a questionnaire of subjective change in tinnitus-related variables (loudness, disability, awareness, control, ignoring) and general well-being variables: physical well-being, activities, mood and stress coping). All assessments were completed at pre- treatment, post-treatment and 6 months follow-up, Tinnitus Questionnaire was the only assessment used at 12 months follow up; (3) Audiological variables (tinnitus masking level, tinnitus sensation level) are only me assured in the pre- treatment period
Notes	The number of patients that was lost was 21 (13 in the TCT group, 4 in MC-E and MC-R each). Total
	drop-out = 21/95 = 22.1%. There were no adverse effects reported.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear
Study	Rief 2005
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Randomisation by a list of random sequence.

The number of patients that were lost was 9 (3 in TCT1, 2 in TCT2t, 1 in yoga and 3 in the WLC). Total

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Characteristics of included studies (Continued)

Participants	43 (of 48 initially recruited) patients (46.75% female, mean age 46.75 years) allocated to two groups.
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) duration of tinnitus greater than six months; (2) and participants agreed that the tinnitus was disturbing, with a subjective annoyance rating of >3 (on a visual analogue scale from 0 to 10).
Interventions	Two experimental groups: (1) Psychophysiologically-oriented intervention (23 patients); and (2) a waiting list control (WLC = 20 patients).
	The psychophysiologically-oriented intervention comprised 9 sessions of 60 minutes duration conducted by five supervised graduate student psychologists.
	All assessments were completed at pre-treatment, post-treatment (8 weeks) and 6 months follow up.
Outcomes	 The outcome measures included: (1) Psychometric questionnaires: TQ, STI, IDCL, SCL-90R, Self-efficacy; (2) Tinnitus diary (3 times a day, during 1 week period at pre-, post-treatment and 6 months follow up): subjective loudness, tinnitus awareness and subjective control of tinnitus.
	All assessments were completed at pre-treatment, post-treatment and 6 months follow up.
Notes	The number of patients that were lost at the pos-treatment point was 1 (in the intervention group), and 1 more drop out (in the control group) occurred at the first follow-up point. Total drop-out = $2/43 = 4.65\%$. There were no adverse effects reported.
Allocation concealment	A – Adequate

Study	Zachriat 2004
Methods	Randomised controlled trial. Randomisation by throwing dice.
Participants	77 (of 83 initially recruited) patients (66.6% male, mean age 53.8 years) allocated to three groups.
	 Inclusion criteria were: (1) duration of tinnitus greater than three months; (2) absence of a treatable organic cause of tinnitus; (3) absence of Ménière's disease; (4) hearing capacity for communication within groups; (5) tinnitus disability score >25 on TQ; (6) no ongoing psychotherapy or masker treatment.
Interventions	Three experimental groups: (1) Tinnitus Coping Training (TCT = 29 patients); (2) Habituation-based treatment (HT = 31 patients); and (3) Educational intervention (EDU = 23 patients).
	TCT comprised 11 sessions of 90 to 120 minutes duration, each group consisted of 6 to 8 patients. There was a 4 week recess between the first and second session of TCT and HT to assess the effect of education alone, and then TCT and HT continued. HT was conducted in 5 sessions of 90 to 120 minutes (spaced over 6 months) to a group of 6 to 8 patients, where education, noise generator and counselling was conducted. Education consisted in a single session informing about the physiology and psychology of tinnitus. This session was identical to the first session for TCT and very similar to the HT one. Patients in EDU group were also offered a further treatment after 15 weeks should they wish. All groups were conducted by 5 qualified psychologist therapists.
	Assessments were carried out at seven measurement periods, at pre-treatment, post-treatment, 6, 12 and 18 (21 for TCT) months follow up.
Outcomes	The outcome measures included:

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review) Copyright © 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

	(1) Self-monitoring tinnitus diary (three times per day during 1 week period): loudness, hours of tinnitus
	awareness and subjective control of tinnitus;
	(2) Psychometric questionnaires: TQ, Tinnitus Coping Questionnaire, QCC, QDC, JQ, a German ques-
	tionnaire in changes in well-being and adaptive behaviour (VEV), SSR, SCL-90R and Minimal Diagnostic
	Interview of Psychological Disorders (DSM-III-R).
	Most variables were assessed at pre- and post-treatment periods. The TQ was the only one applied at every time period.
	Objective tinnitus parameters (pitch masking and masking measurements) were excluded from the study.
Notes	The number of patients that were lost before the post-treatment period was 6 (2 in the TCT group, 1 in
	HT group and 3 in EDU group). A further 2 drop-outs (one in TCT and one in HT group) occured at 18 months follow up (21 months for the TCT group). Total drop-out = 8/77 = 10.38%. There were no adverse effects reported.
Allocation concealment	B – Unclear

TRQ = Tinnitus Reaction Questionnaire, THQ = Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire, TEQ = Tinnitus Effect Questionnaire, TCQ = Tinnitus Cognitions Questionnaire, TCSQ = Tinnitus Coping Strategies Questionnaire, TKQ = Tinnitus Knowledge Questionnaire, BDI = Beck Depression Inventory, LCB = Locus of Control of Behavior Scale, ATQ = Automatic Thoughts Questionnaire, TQ = Tinnitus Questionnaire, TDQ = Tinnitus Disability Questionnaire, SCL-90R = Symptom Checklist, QCC = Questionnaire of Catastrophizing Cognitions, QDC = Questionnaire of Dysfunctional Cognitions, JQ = Jastreboff Questionnaire, SSR = Questionnaire of Subjective Success, STI = Structured Tinnitus Review, IDCL = International Diagnostic Check-List, QS = Quality Score, R = Randomisation, DB = Double Blind, W = Withdrawals

Study	Reason for exclusion
Andersson 2002	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: High drop out (51% in the CBT group)
Davies 1995	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: High drop out (43.33%)
Delb 2002	ALLOCATION: Not randomised
Goebel 2000	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: Patients with tinnitus INTERVENTION: Not CBT
Henry 1998	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: Patients with tinnitus. INTERVENTION: CBT OUTCOME: No usable data. No primary outcome
Hiller 2004	ALLOCATION: Inadequate randomisation, as patients with severe tinnitus (Tinnitus Questionnaire score >40) were allocated to CBT and those with lower scores to the Tinnitus Education group. The randomisation was then done for receiving (or not) noise generators.
Jakes 1986	ALLOCATION: Not randomised
Jakes 1992	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: High drop out (44.8%)
Kröner-Herwig 1999	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: High drop out (39.53%)
Lindberg 1987	ALLOCATION: Not randomised
Lindberg 1988	ALLOCATION: Not randomised
Lindberg 1989	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: Patients with tinnitus.

Characteristics of excluded studies

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Characteristics of excluded studies (Continued)

	INTERVENTIONS: Not CBT
Scott 1985	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: Patients with tinnitus. INTERVENTIONS: Not CBT
Wise 1998	ALLOCATION: Randomised PARTICIPANTS: Patients with tinnitus. INTERVENTIONS: Not CBT

Characteristics of ongoing studies

Study	Robinson 2001
Trial name or title	Cognitive Behavioral Therapy and SSRI Use in Tinnitus
Participants	69 (38 male).
	 Inclusion criteria: (1) no treatable cause for tinnitus; (2) no psychosis or dementia; (3) reported distress from tinnitus and (4) >18 years age.
Interventions	Two groups: (1) CBT; (2) Control group.
Outcomes	 (1) Tinnitus symptoms: THI, ITHQ, TRQ, TEQ. (2) Psychological Symptoms: BDI, HRSD, SCL-90R. (3) Measures of internal focus: MSPQ, PSCS. (4) Functional measures: quality of well-being scale. All assessments at pre-treatment, 8, 16 and 52 weeks.
Starting date	2005
Contact information	Shannon K Robinson, MD. University of California, San Diego. E-mail: skrobinson@ucsd.edu
Notes	
TH T: : H !:	

THI = Tinnitus Handicap Inventory, ITHQ = Iowa Tinnitus Handicap Questionnaire, TRQ = Tinnitus Reaction Questionnaire, TEQ = Tinnitus Effect Questionnaire, BDI = Beck Depression Inventory, HRSD = Hamilton Rating Scale of Depression, SCL-90R = Symptom Check List 90R, MSPQ = Modified Somatic Perception Questionnaire, PSCS = Private Self Consciousness Scale.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 01. SEARCH STRATEGIES

MEDLINE (DataStar)	EMBASE (DataStar)	PsycINFO (DataStar)
1. TINNITUS.DE.	1. TINNITUS.DE.	1. TINNITUS.DE.
2. TINNIT\$2.TI,AB.	2. TINNIT\$2.TI,AB.	2. TINNIT\$2.TI,AB.
3. (EAR\$1 NEAR (BUZZ\$4 OR RING\$4	3. (EAR\$1 NEAR (BUZZ\$4 OR RING\$4	3. (EAR\$1 NEAR (BUZZ\$4 OR RING\$4
OR ROAR\$4 OR	OR	OR ROAR\$4
CLICK\$4 OR PULS\$4)).TI,AB.	ROAR\$4 OR CLICK\$4 OR	OR CLICK\$4 OR PULS\$4)).TI,AB.
4. 1 OR 2 OR 3	PULS\$4)).TI,AB.	4. 1 OR 2 OR 3
5. BEHAVIOR-THERAPY#.DE.	4. 1 OR 2 OR 3	5. BEHAVIOR-THERAPY#.DE.
6. COGNIT\$3 AND BEHAV\$6.TI,AB.	5. COGNIT\$3 AND BEHAV\$6.TI,AB.	6. COGNITIVE-TECHNIQUES#.DE.
7. (COGNIT\$3 OR BEHAV\$6 OR	6. DESENSITI\$6 AND	7. COGNITIVE-BEHAVIOR-

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2007 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Table 01. SEARCH STRATEGIES (Continued)

MEDLINE (DataStar)	EMBASE (DataStar)	PsycINFO (DataStar)
CONDITIONING OR	PSYCHOLOG\$6.TI,AB.	THERAPY.DE.
RELAXATION OR DESENSITI\$6)	7. IMPLOSIVE NEAR	8. COGNIT\$3 AND BEHAV\$6.TI,AB.
AND (THERAPY OR	THERAP\$9.TI,AB.	9. (COGNIT\$3 OR BEHAV\$6 OR
THERAPIES OR THERAPEUTIC\$4	8. (COGNIT\$3 OR BEHAV\$6 OR	CONDITIONING OR
OR	CONDITIONING OR	RELAXATION OR DESENSITI\$6)
PSYCHOTHERAP\$3 OR TRAIN\$3 OR	RELAXATION OR DESENSITI\$6)	AND (THERAPY
RETRAIN\$3 OR	AND (THERAPY OR	OR THERAPIES OR
TREATMENT\$1 OR	THERAPIES OR THERAPEUTIC\$4	THERAPEUTIC\$4 OR
MODIFICATION\$1).TI,AB.	OR	PSYCHOTHERAP\$3 OR TRAIN\$3 OR
8. DESENSITI\$6 AND	PSYCHOTHERAP\$3 OR TRAIN\$3 OR	RETRAIN\$3
PSYCHOLOG\$6.TI,AB.	RETRAIN\$3 OR	OR TREATMENT\$1 OR
9. IMPLOSIVE NEAR	TREATMENT\$1 OR	MODIFICATION\$1).TI,AB.
THERAP\$9.TI,AB.	MODIFICATION\$1).TI,AB.	10. DESENSITI\$6 AND
10. 5 OR 6 OR 7 OR 8 OR 9	9. PSYCHOTHERAPY#.DE.	PSYCHOLOG\$6.TI,AB.
11. 4 AND 10	10. 5 OR 6 OR 7 OR 8 OR 9	11. IMPLOSIVE NEAR
	11. 4 AND 10	THERAP\$9.TI,AB.
		12. 5 OR 6 OR 7 OR 8 OR 9 OR 10 OR
		11
		13. 4 AND 12

ANALYSES

Comparison 01. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Subjective loudness score.

Outcome title	No. of No. of studies participants		Statistical method	Effect size	
01 Improvement on subjective	4	171	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.06 [-0.25, 0.37]	
loudness score pre- and post-			CI		
treatment.					

Comparison 02. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Depression score.

Outcome title	No. of No. of studies participants		Statistical method	Effect size	
02 Improvement on depression	4	152	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.29 [-0.04, 0.63]	
score pre- and post-treatment.			CI		

Comparison 03. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Quality of life score.

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
03 Improvement on quality of life	3	126	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.70 [0.33, 1.08]
score pre- and post-treatment.			CI	

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Comparison 04. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Subjective loudness score.

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size
01 Improvement on subjective	4	164	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.10 [-0.22, 0.42]
treatment.				

Comparison 05. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Depression score.

Outcome title	No. of studies	No. of participants	Statistical method	Effect size	
02 Improvement on depression	3	117	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.01 [-0.43, 0.45]	
score pre- and post-treatment.			CI		

Comparison 06. Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Quality of life score.

Outcome title	No. of No. of studies participants		Statistical method	Effect size	
03 Improvement on quality of life	3	146	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95%	0.64 [0.29, 1.00]	
score pre- and post-treatment.			CI		

COVER SHEET

Title	Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus
Authors	Martinez Devesa P, Waddell A, Perera R, Theodoulou M
Contribution of author(s)	All authors contributed to the drafting of the protocol. PMD carried out the search and the three authors selected the included studies, carried out data extraction and contributed to the final text of the review. RP contributed to the statistical methods and the assessment of inclusion/exclusion criteria.
Issue protocol first published	2005/2
Review first published	2007/1
Date of most recent amendment	15 November 2006
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	14 November 2006
What's New	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Mr Pablo Martinez-Devesa Specialist Registrar ENT

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

	ENT Department
	Great Western Hospital
	Marlborough Road
	Swindon
	Wilts
	SN3 6BB
	UK
	E-mail: devesa@doctors.org.uk
	Tel: +44 1793 604411
	Fax: +44 1793 604406
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD005233.pub2
Cochrane Library number	CD005233
Editorial group	Cochrane Ear, Nose and Throat Disorders Group
Editorial group code	HM-ENT

GRAPHS AND OTHER TABLES

Analysis 01.01. Comparison 01 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Subjective loudness score, Outcome 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

Comparison: 01 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Subjective loudness score.

Outcome: 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.

Study	-	Treatment		Control	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) Weight Standardised Mean Dif		Standardised Mean Difference (Random)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% Cl	(%)	95% CI
Henry 1996	20	0.02 (0.79)	20	0.03 (0.74)	-#-	24.8	-0.01 [-0.63, 0.61]
Kr??ner-Herwig 1995	10	0.14 (1.64)	16	0.00 (1.45)		15.3	0.09 [-0.70, 0.88]
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	0.89 (1.25)	20	0.72 (1.25)	+	33.8	0.13 [-0.40, 0.67]
Rief 2005	22	0.27 (1.50)	20	0.23 (1.04)		26.0	0.03 [-0.58, 0.64]
Total (95% CI)	95		76		+	100.0	0.06 [-0.25, 0.37]
Test for heterogeneity ch	i-squar	re=0.14 df=3 p	=0.99	1?? =0.0%			
Test for overall effect z=0).40 j	p=0.7					
					<u> </u>		
					-4.0 -2.0 0 2.0 4.0		
					Favours control Favours treatment		

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Analysis 02.02. Comparison 02 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Depression score., Outcome 02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

Comparison: 02 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Depression score.

Outcome: 02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.

Study		Treatment		Control	Standardised N	Mean Difference	(Random)	Weight	Standardised Mean Difference (Random)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		95% CI		(%)	95% Cl
Andersson 2005	12	7.20 (10.38)	11	-3.10 (14.59)				15.1	0.79 [-0.07, 1.65]
Henry 1996	20	1.30 (5.87)	20	-0.65 (4.84)	-			28.3	0.36 [-0.27, 0.98]
Kr??ner-Herwig 1995	10	6.48 (20.14)	16	0.00 (17.89)	-	-		17.4	0.33 [-0.46, 1.13]
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	1.49 (6.35)	20	1.20 (7.86)	4	-		39.2	0.04 [-0.49, 0.57]
Total (95% CI)	85		67			•		100.0	0.29 [-0.04, 0.63]
Test for heterogeneity ch	i-squa	re=2.21 df=3 p	=0.53	1?? =0.0%					
Test for overall effect z= I	.74	p=0.08							
					-4.0 -2.0	0 2.0 4.0			
					Favours control	Favours treatm	ient		

Analysis 03.03. Comparison 03 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Quality of life score, Outcome 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

.

Comparison: 03 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (waiting list): Quality of life score.

Outcome: 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.

Study	N	Treatment Mean(SD)	N	Control Mean(SD)	Standardised I	Mean Difference (Random) 95% Cl	Weight (%)	Standardised Mean Difference (Random) 95% Cl
Andersson 2005	12	0.80 (2.52)	11	-0.30 (3.67)	-	— —	20.5	0.34 [-0.49, 1.16]
Henry 1996	20	10.34 (13.47)	20	-0.93 (16.06)			33.7	0.75 [0.10, 1.39]
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	11.93 (10.90)	20	2.70 (10.83)		-	45.8	0.84 [0.29, 1.39]
Total (95% CI)	75		51			•	100.0	0.70 [0.33, 1.08]
Test for heterogeneity chi	-squa	re=0.99 df=2 p=	=0.61	1?? =0.0%				
Test for overall effect z=3	.70	p=0.0002						
		•						
					-4.0 -2.0	0 2.0 4.0		
					Favours control	Eavours treatment		

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Analysis 04.01. Comparison 04 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Subjective loudness score, Outcome 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

Comparison: 04 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Subjective loudness score.

Outcome: 01 Improvement on subjective loudness score pre- and post-treatment.

Study	Т	reatment	t Control		Standardised Mean Difference (Rand	om) Weight	Standardised Mean Difference (Random)			
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI			
Henry 1996	20	0.02 (0.79)	20	0.22 (0.61)		26.5	-0.28 [-0.90, 0.35]			
Kr??ner-Herwig 1995	10	0.14 (1.64)	8	0.10 (1.74)		11.9	0.02 [-0.91, 0.95]			
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	0.89 (1.25)	16	0.46 (1.16)		30.9	0.35 [-0.23, 0.92]			
Zachriat 2004	27	0.75 (1.26)	20	0.46 (1.66)		30.7	0.20 [-0.38, 0.78]			
Total (95% CI)	100		64		+	100.0	0.10 [-0.22, 0.42]			
Test for heterogeneity chi-square=2.24 df=3 p=0.52 l?? =0.0%										
Test for overall effect z=0.59 p=0.6										
					-4.0 -2.0 0 2.0 4.0					
					Favours control Favours treatment					

Analysis 05.02. Comparison 05 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Depression score., Outcome 02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

Comparison: 05 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Depression score.

Outcome: 02 Improvement on depression score pre- and post-treatment.

Study	Treatment		Control		Standardised Mean Difference (R	1ean Difference (Random)	n) Weight	Standardised Mean Difference (Random)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)		95% CI	(%)	95% CI
Henry 1996	20	1.30 (5.87)	20	-1.15 (6.94)	-	-	37.7	0.37 [-0.25, 1.00]
Kr??ner-Herwig 1995	10	6.48 (20.14)	8	6.10 (1.33)			19.8	0.02 [-0.91, 0.95]
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	1.49 (6.35)	16	3.63 (7.37)	-		42.5	-0.32 [-0.90, 0.26]
Total (95% Cl)	73		44		•	•	100.0	0.01 [-0.43, 0.45]
Test for heterogeneity ch	i-squai	re=2.54 df=2 p	=0.28	1?? =21.3%				
Test for overall effect z=0	0.05	p=I						
					-4.0 -2.0	0 2.0 4.0		
					Favours control	Favours treatment		

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)

Analysis 06.03. Comparison 06 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Quality of life score, Outcome 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.

Review: Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus

Comparison: 06 Cognitive Behavioural Therapy versus control (other intervention): Quality of life score.

Outcome: 03 Improvement on quality of life score pre- and post-treatment.

Study	Treatment			Control	Standardised Mean Difference (Random)	Weight	Standardised Mean Difference (Random)
	Ν	Mean(SD)	Ν	Mean(SD)	95% CI	(%)	95% CI
Henry 1996	20	10.34 (13.47)	20	-1.95 (15.88)	-#-	29.3	0.82 [0.17, 1.47]
Kr??ner-Herwig 2003	43	11.93 (10.90)	16	7.53 (14.03)		36.8	0.37 [-0.21, 0.95]
Zachriat 2004	27	4. 0 (2.30)	20	4.60 (10.94)	-#-	33.9	0.80 [0.19, 1.40]
Total (95% CI)	90		56		•	100.0	0.64 [0.29, 1.00]
Test for heterogeneity ch	i-squa	re=1.40 df=2 p	=0.50	I?? =0.0%			
Test for overall effect z=3	3.60	p=0.0003					
					<u> </u>		
					-40 -20 0 20 40		

Favours control

Favours treatment

Cognitive behavioural therapy for tinnitus (Review)